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Hardy Oil and Gas plc is a London, UK based oil and gas exploration 
and production company registered in the Isle of Man and quoted on 
the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange. 
It is the parent company of Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc 
and Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited.

It is our aim to create measurable value for our shareholders through sustained growth
in production and reserves.

Through a combination of acquisitions and bidding, Hardy has built a portfolio of 
assets which includes production and highly prospective exploration blocks in India. 
Our skilled commercial and technical teams continue to implement this strategy for 
new opportunities worldwide.

Operational Highlights

+  PY-3: Hardy operated, core area STOIIP 
upgraded to 155MMbbls from 113MMbbls 
based on interpretation and analysis of 
new 3D seismic data and better production 
performance

+  PY-3: oil production from the PY-3 fi eld 
averaged 5,811bbld in 2006 compared with 
5,541bbld in 2005 while water injection 
averaged 6,678bwpd in 2006 compared 
with 5,800bwpd in 2005

+   CY-OS/2: drilled two exploration wells in 
CY-OS/2 block and declared discovery in 
the second well

+  GS-01: drilled one exploratory well in 
GS-OSN-2000/1 block. Recorded signifi cant 
hydrocarbon shows during drilling. The well 
was logged but not tested. The PSC Phase-I 
was extended by 22 months to July 2008

+  D9: 3D seismic data, interpreted and six 
possible well locations identifi ed on the 
D9 block, of which one is expected to be 
drilled in 2007

+  D3: received all 2D & 3D seismic data 
from previous operator, in the D3 block – 
six prospects have been high-graded 
based on existing data

Financial Highlights

+  Turnover of $21.3m (2005: $17.6m)

+   Profi t before tax $10.3m (2005: $8.5m)

+   Operating cash fl ow $23.9m (2005: $11.0m)

+  Capital expenditure $54.4m (2005: $7.2m)

+  Net funds $27.3m (2005: $31.2m)

2007 Outlook

+  Participation in a minimum of two exploration 
wells offshore from India

+  Submit appraisal programme to Directorate 
General of Hydrocarbons (“DGH”) for 
CY-OS/2 to establish commerciality of 
the block

+  Further appraisal of Fan-A discovery 
(CY-OS/2)

+    Development of operations in Nigeria
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Hardy Oil and Gas plc has existing production and cash 
fl ow from an offshore fi eld in India’s Cauvery Basin. 
Hardy also has interests in exploration blocks in India’s 
Saurashtra, Cauvery, and Krishna Godavari Basins and 
two development licences in Nigeria.

Hardy Oil and Gas 
at a glance

PY-3

 + Hardy holds an 18% participating interest
 +  Continual increased production since Hardy 

became operator
 +  STOIIP estimates has risen from 65MMbbls 

(2000) to 155MMbbls (2006)
 +  Further drilling planned to enhance recovery 

and increase production

This producing fi eld is located off the east 
coast of India approximately 80km south of 
Pondicherry, and is ring-fenced by the Company’s 
CY-OS/2 block. Water depth ranges from 40 to 
200m. The fi eld was developed utilising fl oating 
production facilities and subsea wellheads. 
The high quality light crude oil (49o API) 
produced is sold directly to a local refi nery.

CY-OS/2

+  Hardy holds 75% participating interest
+  Fan A-1 well declared a discovery in the 

Cretaceous formation
+  Appraisal programme submitted for approval
+   PY-1 and PY-3 commercial discoveries are ring 

fenced by this block

The CY-OS/2 block is located in the northern 
part of the Cauvery basin immediately 
offshore from Pondicherry. The block, covering 
approximately 859km2, is operated by Hardy. 
The primary prospects identifi ed in the block are 
stratigraphic slope fan complexes. As a pre NELP 
block, the PSC terms are the most attractive of the 
Company’s Indian assets and ONGC has the option 
to assume a 30% participating interest should a 
commercial discovery be declared. Hardy holds an 
indirect interest in PY-1 through its 8.5% equity 
holding in HOEC.

+    Cauvery Basin

374 1.96
2005: 364
2004: 388

2005: 2.34
2004: 2.63

Production (Mbbls) Commercial Developed Reserves (MMbbls)
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GS-01 (NELP II)

+  Hardy holds a 10% participating interest
+   Exploration block in Phase I (5 well commitment)
+  One exploration well drilled 2006
+   An additional exploration well expected to be 

drilled in 2007

This block is located in the Gujarat-Saurashtra 
offshore basin off the west coast of India. 
The block, which is adjacent to the giant 
Bombay High oil fi eld, encompasses 8,841km2. 
1,220km2 of 3D seismic has been acquired on 
the south-east corner of the block. The prospects 
currently identifi ed are carbonate reef build-ups. 
The block is operated by Reliance Industries 
Limited and one additional exploration well 
has been proposed for 2007.

+    Saurashtra Basin

OZA

+  Hardy holds a 40% working interest
+  Installation of export line anticipated after 

fl ow testing

Located to the north-east of Port Harcourt this 
onshore block encompasses 20km2. Millenium 
Oil and Gas Company Limited is the operator. 
The fi eld has produced approximately 1.0MMbbls.

Atala

+  Hardy holds a 20% working interest
+  Plans to re-enter existing well and drill 

a second development well are ongoing

Located to the north of Port Harcourt in the 
mangrove swamps of the Niger Delta, this block 
comprises 34km2. Hardy is the technical partner 
and Bayelsa Oil Company Limited is the operator.

+    Niger Delta (Nigeria)

Block D3 (NELP V)

 + Hardy holds a 10% participating interest
 +  The exploration block is in Phase I 

(6 well commitment)
 +  Extensive 3D seismic programme planned 

for 2007

The block is located in the Krishna Godavari basin 
off the east coast of India. RIL is the operator of this 
block which comprises 3,288km2 with water depth 
ranging from 400 to 2,000m. Hardy was awarded 
this block under intense competition due to the 
prospectively of the block and existing 3D seismic 
identifying several prospects. The prospects initially 
identifi ed are stratigraphic channel and fan lobes.

Block D9 (NELP III)

+  Hardy holds a 10% participating interest
+  Exploration block in Phase I (4 well commitment)
+   One exploration well expected to be drilled 

in 2007
+  Directly offsetting the prolifi c D6 block

This deepwater block is located in the Krishna 
Godavari basin off the east coast of India, in the 
Bay of Bengal. The block comprises 11,850km2 
and is operated by RIL. This block is viewed as 
highly prospective due to the prolifi c discoveries 
on the adjacent D6 block and the large structures 
identifi ed by 3D seismic. The primary prospects are 
tertiary sand within anticlined four way dip closures, 
and also channel sands in the Plio-Pleistocene.

+    Krishna Godavari Basin
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Chairman’s Statement

I am delighted to report on 
another active year for Hardy, 
marked by record fi nancial 
performance and the drilling of 
three offshore exploration wells. 
The results are a testament to 
the continued commitment and 
dedication of Hardy’s management 
team to execute the Company’s 
development and exploration 
programmes. The Company’s 
announcement of a discovery on 
its Fan A prospect in the CY-OS/2 
block marked an encouraging 
start to 2007.

Overall fi nancial performance was strong due 
to continued robust oil prices and consistent 
production from the PY-3 fi eld. Increased revenue 
from operations offset higher than expected 
exploration expenditure. Capital expenditure 
was over $50m for the year; the two exploration 
wells drilled on CY-OS/2 accounted for the 
majority of this expenditure.

Progress in Nigeria has been slower than 
expected, with current instability in the 
Niger Delta compounding the shortage of 
equipment and personnel. Progress in reaching 
working agreements with local communities 
has been encouraging but we have decided 
to defer production testing until the second 
half of 2007, after the completion of Nigeria’s 
federal elections.

The Company continued to work closely 
with Reliance Industries Limited (“RIL”), 
the operator of three of Hardy’s exploration 
blocks in India. RIL plans to drill at least 
one well on the D9 block and complete the 
3D seismic programme on the D3 block 
in the second half of this year. The recent 
commencement of drilling of the second GS-01 
well is also an encouraging start to an active 
2007 programme.

Financial results
Total entitlement production for 2006 of 
0.38 million barrels of oil (“MMbbls”) was 
slightly higher than 2005 (0.36MMbbls). 
The increase is due to an improvement 
of production facility uptime to 99.78% 
compared with 91.64% in 2005.

The Company has again realised record 
operating profi ts and operating cash fl ow of 
$8.2m and $23.9m respectively (2005: $8.0m 
and $11.0m). These results were signifi cantly 
strengthened due to higher oil prices and 
sustained production. The volume weighted 
average for the Company’s crude sales for the 
year was $64.82 per barrel compared with a 
price of $52.82 per barrel for 2005.

Hardy recorded profi t before tax of $10.3m on 
turnover of $21.3m compared with a profi t before 
tax of $8.5m on turnover of $17.6m for 2005.

Management
The Board has agreed to the following changes 
of senior management responsibilities from 
1 April 2007:

Yogeshwar Sharma, whilst remaining a main 
board director of Hardy Oil and Gas plc, 
with responsibility for fi nance, also assumes 
responsibility for Group operations as President 
and CEO of Hardy Exploration & Production 
(India) Inc (“HEPI”) and will be spending more 
time at the offi ce in Chennai, India.

Sastry Karra steps down as President and CEO 
of HEPI but continues in his position as CEO 
of Hardy Oil and Gas plc and will be based in 
London, UK.

Key events of the last year

Drilled three offshore exploration wells 
Declared discovery on CY-OS/2 block 
Successful placing of 5.2m additional equity shares
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Current trading and outlook
Looking forward to 2007, Hardy will remain 
focused on managing the Company’s portfolio 
of offshore exploration acreage in India and its 
development acreage in Nigeria.

As announced on 5 March 2007, the second 
(non-operated) exploration well on the 
GS-OSN-2000/1 (“GS-01”) block in the 
Saurashtra basin has now commenced drilling. 
Hardy has a 10% participating interest and 
RIL is the operator. Results from this well are 
not expected before May 2007.

Hardy’s fi rst well in the prospective Krishna 
Godavari (“KG”) basin is expected to spud in 
the third quarter of 2007. The D9 well will be 
operated by RIL, an experienced and successful 
operator in the KG basin. All stakeholders 
will be closely monitoring the progress of 
this programme.

Assessment of the D3 block will continue 
with the shooting of additional 3D seismic 
over the block. The acquisition phase began 
in March 2007. Acquisition and processing is 
expected to continue through the year with 
drilling operations not expected to commence 
until 2008.

Hardy’s operated assets (PY-3 and CY-OS/2) 
will demand management’s full focus during 
2007. Further analysis and interpretation of 
the Fan A-1 discovery, through an appraisal 
programme comprising of further drilling 
and seismic reprocessing, will be required to 
determine the commerciality of the discovery. 
Execution of the PY-3 drilling programme will 
face challenges of securing long lead items and 
equipment. Cash fl ow from PY-3 is expected 
to be lower in 2007 due to higher profi t oil to 
the Government of India (“GOI”) (2006: 25%, 
2007: 40%). Until Phase III is completed, the 
fi eld’s production will continue to follow its 
natural decline.

The key challenges for the Company in 2007 are 
escalating exploration and development costs, 
the continued shortage of offshore drilling 
equipment, and retention and recruitment 
of experienced operational and technical 
personnel. The Board believes that Hardy is 
well positioned to meet these challenges. 
We look forward to an exciting year ahead and 
the continued support of our shareholders.

E.P. Mortimer
Chairman 
2 April 2007
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Operations Summary

Hardy concentrates its activities 
principally in India and Nigeria. 
The Company’s growth strategy is 
to focus on increasing production 
and continuing exploration of its 
existing asset portfolio, along 
with acquisition of new assets.

Cauvery Basin – Eastern India
DEVELOPMENT & PRODUCTION
The PY-3 fi eld is located off the east coast of 
India approximately 80km south of Pondicherry 
in the Cauvery basin. The basin, developed in 
the late Jurassic/early Cretaceous period, 
straddles the present-day coast east coast 
of India, in water depths of 40 to 200m. 
The Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) 
licence covers 81km2, and is the deepest 
producing offshore fi eld in India, producing 
high quality light crude of 49 degrees API.

Hardy is the Operator of the PY-3 fi eld, and is 
party to a PSC together with Oil and Natural 
Gas Corporation (“ONGC”), Tata Petrodyne 
Limited (“TPL”) and Hindustan Oil Exploration 
Company Limited (“HOEC”). Operations 
employ a fl oating production unit (“FPO”) 
called the Tahara, a fl oating storage and 
offl oading unit (“FSO”) called the Endeavour, 
and four subsea wellheads, comprising of three 
producing wells, two vertical and one lateral, 
and a water injection well. Operation of the 
facilities is contracted out to Aban Offshore 
Limited (“Aban”). The operating contract is 
due to expire in the second quarter of 2007. 
Negotiations for an extension of this 
agreement are ongoing.

PY-3 fi eld production averaged 5,811bbld in 
2006 compared with 5,541bbld in 2005, 
primarily due to higher production facilities 
uptime performance of 99.78% compared 
with 91.64% in 2005. The water injection 
averaged 6,678bwpd for the current year 
compared with 5,800bwpd in 2005. Higher 
injection rates were achieved in 2006 by 
modifying the water injection pump to achieve 
higher injection pressure. PY-3 fi eld production 
during 2007 was 2.12MMbbls compared with 
2.02MMbbls in 2006. Hardy is the operator 
and holds an 18% participating interest. 

The Company is planning for a third phase 
development (“Phase III”) on the PY-3 fi eld 
based on the interpretation of the acquired 3D 
seismic data. Phase III comprises of the drilling 
of two wells (one producer and one water 
injection), various subsea gathering lines, and 
additional water injection facilities. The PY-3 
participating interest holders are favourable to 
this proposal and have tentatively approved a 
budget of $92m for Phase III.

EXPLORATION
The CY-OS/2 block is located in the Cauvery 
basin and encompasses an area of 880km2. 
The block is currently in the third exploration 
phase. Hardy was granted an extension for the 
CY-OS/2 block on 24 May 2005 for a further 
period of 22 months up to 23 March 2007. 
As operator, Hardy holds a 75% participating 
interest in the block in partnership with GAIL 
(India) Limited (“GAIL”) holding the remaining 
25% interest. In the event that a discovery is 
declared commercial, ONGC has an option to 
assume a 30% interest in the block.

During the year, Hardy completed its 
committed work programme by drilling two 
exploration wells (Fan E-1 & Fan A-1) on the 
block. As of 31 December 2006, Hardy had 
invested $47.75m for its share of the drilling 
and testing of the two wells.

Principal Licence Interests

 Ref Field Interest Operator

India
CY-OS-90/1 PY-3 Cauvery Offshore 18% Hardy
CY-OS/2 CY-OS/2 Cauvery Offshore 75% Hardy
GS-OSN-2000/1 GS-01 Saurashtra Offshore 10% Reliance
KG-DWN-2001/1 D9 Krishna Godavari 10% Reliance
KG-DWN-2003/1 D3 Krishna Godavari 10% Reliance
    
Nigeria
OZA  Onshore fi eld 40% Millenium
Atala  Onshore fi eld 20% Bayelsa
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Fan E-1 well
This well was targeted at an Eocene Fan 
play located just to the south of the PY-1 
gas fi eld. The well encountered oil shows 
over an approximately 15m thick weathered 
and fractured zone within the basement. 
However, this zone did not fl ow on test and 
it was concluded that the oil had migrated 
through this locality due to the lack of 
a trapping mechanism.

Fan A-1 and A-1 (ST) wells
The Fan A-1 well was drilled to test two 
potential targets within the Cretaceous. 
These targets had been identifi ed as high 
amplitude packages on the recently acquired 
3D seismic. The well encountered over 50m of 
net sand in the shallower target 1 (2,888m) 
and log data indicated the presence of 
hydrocarbons and a gas sample was recovered 
by the modular dynamic test (“MDT”) tool. 
A further study is required to determine whether 
the saturation levels seen in this interval are 
potentially commercial.

Target 2 was encountered at a depth of 3,759m 
and comprised roughly 35m of net sand 
subdivided into two distinct units, both of which 
displayed oil shows along with signifi cant 
associated gas during drilling. The logs indicated 
that this zone is oil bearing and as a result, 
a full drill-stem-test (“DST”) was carried out. 
The fl ow during this test was of fresh water with 
continuous gas. It was recognised, however, 
that the cement bond around the hole was 
inadequate, resulting in the perforated horizon 
not being isolated from the surrounding 
formations. It was also recognised that the hole 
had been subject to the presence of heavy mud 
over an extended time period leading to severe 
formation damage.

Due to the poor condition of the hole for 
testing of target 2, the decision was taken 
to initiate an appraisal sidetrack operation.

Fan A-1 (ST)
The sidetrack well kicked off at a depth of 
2,760m from the original hole on an azimuth 
of 3260 intercepting the target 2 pay zone at 
a distance of 350m from the original hole. 

The sidetrack well drilled through the target 1 
package again proving a similar although 
slightly thicker package than in the original 
hole. The main target 2 pay zone was found 
at a slightly structurally elevated position but 
more signifi cantly was now found to comprise 
one continuous sand of around 45m in 
thickness. Again this interval displayed oil 
shows in the drilling cuttings together with 
high levels of associated gas. Cased hole logs 
together with the logging while drilling 
(“LWD”) log suite were suffi cient to confi rm 
the presence of hydrocarbons.

Target 2 was tested but as in the comparative 
test in the original well the fl ow was dominated 
by fresh water and gas. Hardy believes that the 
source of the fresh water is the overpressurised 
shales overlying the reservoir. The Company 
is undertaking further studies to investigate 
this phenomenon.

The Board is encouraged by the positive results 
of the recent drilling as it has established the 
presence of a hydrocarbon source, trap, and 
reservoir, which warrant further appraisal and 
drilling to establish commerciality. In light of 
this discovery, the Company has submitted an 
appraisal programme to DGH for approval.

Gujarat-Saurashtra Basin – 
Western India
The GS-OSN-2000/1 (“GS-01”) block is 
located off the west coast of India in the 
Gujarat-Saurashtra basin. In water depths 
varying between 80 and 150m the block 
encompasses an area of 8,841km2. Hardy holds 
a 10% participating interest and the operator 
is RIL. The PSC was awarded in 2001 under the 
India NELP II terms. Five exploration wells are 
committed to phase one of the PSC.

In 2006 the A-1 well was drilled to a depth of 
4,300m and encountered hydrocarbons while 
drilling in the lowermost section of the well. 
The well was logged but could not be fully 
tested due to a combination of higher than 
expected pressures and temperatures, and 
other operational issues.

In March 2007 the Company announced that 
RIL had commenced drilling the second well on 
the GS-01 block. The exploratory well GS01-B1 
is being drilled in a water depth of 79m with 
the semi-submersible rig “Actinia”. Drilling is 
expected to continue in to the second quarter. 
The well is targeted to drill to approximately 
3,700m to explore carbonates of Middle and 
Lower Miocene, Upper Oligocene, and the 
Eocene Bassein and Panna formations. 
The total depth (“TD”) may be revised based 
on the actual data. The well is located 80km 
north-west of the giant Bombay High oil fi eld.
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Operations Summary (continued)

Krishna Godavari (KG) Basin – 
Eastern India
The Company has a 10% participating interest 
in two blocks in the prospective KG basin 
named KG-DWN-2001/1 (“D9”), and KG-DWN-
2003/1 (“D3”). Located in the Bay of Bengal 
the KG basin has been host to a number of 
world class oil and gas discoveries over the 
past three years. Most notably the Dhirubai 
gas fi eld discovery, directly adjacent to D9, 
is scheduled to start gas production in 2009.

The D9 block encompasses 11,850km2, 
and is in water depths of 2,300 to 3,100m. 
RIL is the operator for the block and Hardy 
holds a 10% participating interest in these 
blocks. The block is in the fi rst exploration 
phase which has a commitment to drill four 
exploration wells.

3440km2 of 3D seismic data has been acquired 
over the block, which has now been processed 
and interpreted, and six prospects have been 
identifi ed for drilling. At least one exploration 
well is planned for the third quarter of 2007.

There are two substantial asymmetric anticlinal 
structural trends, with axes running south-west 
to north-east across the north-western corner 
of the block. These structures appear to form 
closures, at all levels from the Eocene to the 
Pliocene, so the possibility exists that they 
could contain multiple stacked reservoirs.

The D3 block encompasses an area of 
3,288km2, in water depths of 400 to 2,000m. 
On 18 September 2006 Hardy entered into a 
PSC with the GOI for the block D3, wherein 
Hardy holds 10% and RIL holds 90%. 
This block has approximately 300km2 of 3D 
seismic data, which is being reprocessed. 
In addition RIL has initiated operations to 
acquire a further 3,000km2 of 3D seismic data, 
covering the entire block. Acquisition of data 
has commenced and will take most of the fi rst 
half of 2007 to complete.

Several leads on the block have been identifi ed 
from the current 3D data and we expect RIL to 
continue assessment and development of 
additional prospects with the 2007 acquisition 
programme. As yet, no drilling locations have 
been proposed for D3 in 2007.

Niger Delta – Nigeria
The Company holds working interests in two 
development blocks in Nigeria, through its 
subsidiary Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited (“HON”), 
and is working as technical partner with the 
local operators. Located within the Niger 
Delta, the OZA block is onshore and the Atala 
block in mangrove swamp. These blocks were 
part of the Nigerian Government’s marginal 
fi eld initiative.

The Oza block comprises 20km2 and has three 
existing wells, and is operated by Millenium Oil 
and Gas Company Ltd (“MOGCL”). Hardy holds 
a 40% interest in the block. The fi eld has 
produced approximately 1MMbbls to date.

As technical partner, Hardy has designed 
and procured an early production facility for 
conducting production tests of the existing 
wells, facilitated the design of a proposed 
pipeline to a nearby Shell Petroleum 
Development Company of Nigeria Limited 
(“SPDC”) fl ow station, and collaborated with 
MOGCL on government and community 
presentations.

The Atala block is located in the creeks of the 
Niger Delta, encompassing approximately 
34km2, and has one existing well. The block 
is operated by Bayelsa Oil Company Limited 
(“BOCL”). Hardy as technical partner holds 
a 20% interest in the block.
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The planned appraisal programme will require 
the re-entry of the existing well and the drilling 
of a further well, which will require the use of a 
swamp barge drilling rig. The operator BOCL has 
been working with a consortium of other swamp 
marginal fi eld operators in securing a rig. Future 
activity will be contingent on securing an 
appropriate rig for this prospective area.

Indirect interest
On 1 June 2006 Hardy announced that the 
London Court of International Arbitration 
(“LCIA”) did not uphold its defence of 
pre-emption rights relating to the Hindustan 
Oil Exploration Company Limited (“HOEC”) 
shares as Hardy was deemed not to be a party 
to the shareholder agreement. The result has 
not had a direct impact on Hardy, and the 
Company maintains its 8.5% interest. HOEC’s 
primary assets are a 21% participating interest 
in PY-3 and 100% participating interest in 
PY-1 (a gas discovery adjacent to PY-3 and ring-
fenced by the CY-OS/2 exploration licence).

In October 2006 HOEC raised approximately 
$33m (Rs 1,490m) via a public rights issue in 
which Hardy took up its pro-rata entitlement, 
at a cost of $2.81m (Rs.127m). As of 30 March 
2007 the quoted market value of Hardy’s 
holdings was $10.6m.

Company reserves
Hardy’s 2P reserves for the PY-3 fi eld, on an 
entitlement basis, were 2,950Mbbls as of 
31 December 2006. This represents a 
reduction of 308Mbbls from 2005. The table 
opposite shows reserves information at the 
end of 2006 on an entitlement and direct 
participating interest basis.

Sastry Karra
Chief Executive

Oil and gas reserves

 Direct participating interest Net entitlement
Net commercial 2P reserves basis Mbbls basis Mbbls

As at 1 January 2006
– Commercial developed reserves 2,341 1,918
– Commercial undeveloped 1,890 1,340
 4,231 3,258

Production in period (381) (308)

At 31 December 2006
– Commercial developed reserves 1,960 1,610
– Commercial undeveloped 1,890 1,340

 3,850 2,950

Contingent resources (net)

  Best estimate
Assets Interest MMBOE Type

PY-3 18.0% 1.9 Oil
OZA 40.0% 2.4 Oil
CY-OS/2 (Fan-A) 52.5% 10.5 Oil & Gas

BOE gas conversion 8:1

“The Board is encouraged by the positive 
results of the recent drilling as it has 
established the presence of a hydrocarbon 
source, trap, and reservoir, which warrant 
further appraisal and drilling to establish 
commerciality.”
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Financial Review

Hardy has had a successful year 
achieving many new milestones. 
Strong oil prices and production 
within expectations has resulted 
in increases across all key 
performance metrics including 
turnover, operating profi tability, 
cash fl ow, net profi t and earnings 
per share.

Profi t and loss
TURNOVER 
Hardy’s participating interest share of 
production for 2006 was 0.38MMbbls 
compared with 0.36MMbbls in 2005. On an 
entitlement basis, after adjusting the profi t oil 
to the GOI, the net production was 0.31MMbbls 
in 2006 compared with 0.29MMbbls in 2005.

Turnover for the period was $21.32m compared 
with $17.57m for the previous year. The average 
price realised per barrel during the year was 
$64.82 per bbl (2005: $52.82 per bbl). The 
increase in price realised and a slight increase 
in production accounted for a further $2.70m 
increase. Technical services and overhead 
recovery accounted for a $1.05m increase in 
turnover. An insurance claim of $1.00m was 
received for business interruption caused by an 
operational accident in the year 2002. This was 
accounted for as other operating income.

GROSS PROFIT 
The Group’s gross profi t for the year was 
$12.94m (2005:$12.71m). The cost of sales 
including depletion per barrel was $22.01 
for the year 2006 (2005: $13.37/bbl). 
The increase in cost was mainly attributable to 
an increase in depletion. The Group’s depletion 
charge, on a net entitlement basis, was 
$17.46/bbl comparing with $5.61/bbl for 
2005. This increase in depletion is mainly 
due to the capitalisation of unsuccessful 
exploration wells in the India cost pool.

Profi t oil paid to the GOI for the PY-3 fi eld 
increased from $3.98m for 2005 to $4.71m 
in 2006. The increase is attributable to the 
increase in oil sales revenue.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
Administrative expenses for the year were 
$5.70m compared to $4.69m in 2005. The 
increase is mainly due to the additional legal 
cost associated with pursuing a claim under 
the shareholders’ agreement with HOEC, 
wherein Hardy holds 8.5% of the company’s 
issued share capital. An additional charge of 
$0.60m was recognised under the adoption 
of FRS20 (towards share based payments to 
directors and employees).

Profi t for the year was $7.99m (2005: $5.44m) 
and is derived after crediting $1.00m as other 
operating income on account of a business 
interruption claim received during the year 
for an accident which occurred in 2002. 
The deferred tax charge for the year was 
$2.72m (2005: $2.78m) and no provision 
was made for current tax charges.

Comparative statistical summary of 2005 and 2006

   % Increase/
 Year 2006 Year 2005 (decrease)

Production in MMbbls 0.38 0.36 5
Average price realised per barrel ($/bbl) 64.82 52.82 22
Average cost of production per barrel ($/bbl) 22.01 13.37 65
Turnover – excluding profi t oil sold ($m) 21.32 17.57 21
Operating profi t ($m) 8.24 8.02 3
Profi t before tax ($m) 10.25 8.55 20
Profi t after tax ($m) 7.99 5.44 47
Operating cash fl ow ($m) 23.94 11.04 117
Net funds ($m) 27.28 31.23 (13)
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Balance sheet
The exploratory expenditure for the year
 was $51.03m primarily attributable to 
drilling operations in the blocks CY-OS/2 and 
GS-OSN-2000/1. During the year $0.15m was 
capitalised as development expenditure and 
other fi xed assets accounted for $0.43m.

The Group also revised upwards the cost 
estimate for abandonment of the producing 
asset PY-3. Consequently, the Group increased 
its decommissioning provision to $4.50m 
(2005: $1.86m), representing an increase 
of $2.64m. The Group’s net assets, as of 
31 December 2006, were $83.16m with no 
outstanding long-term loan obligations.

Cash fl ow
The operating cash fl ow of the Group was 
$23.94m which includes a reduction in working 
capital of $13.57m and an advance tax payment 
of $0.14m. Interest income during the year was 
$2.22m compared with $0.49m in 2005.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Cash outfl ow from capital expenditure during 
the year was $54.39m which includes $51.04m 
towards exploration expenditure. There was an 
expenditure of $2.78m on the acquisition of 
1,664,423 additional equity shares in HOEC 
by subscribing to the company’s rights issue.

NET FUNDS 
In 2006, the Group had a net cash outfl ow of 
$31.27m before fi nancing compared to cash 
infl ow of $3.24m in 2005. The Group raised an 
additional sum of $24.53m in February 2006 
by the placing of an additional 5.20m equity 
shares to meet its ongoing exploration 
expenditure. At the end of the year the Group 
had no outstanding debt and the net funds 
were $27.28m.

Yogeshwar Sharma
Managing Director

“Cash outfl ow from capital 
expenditure during the 
year was $54.39m which 
includes $51.04m towards 
exploration expenditure.”
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The company’s guiding principles are to 
be ethical and act with integrity in the 
communities where we work, and to respect 
cultural, national and religious diversity. 
Based on mutual respect and understanding, 
Hardy has built enduring relationships with 
the Indian Government, local authorities, 
partners and business associates. Respecting 
the rich cultural diversity of the region, we 
strive to protect the environment, taking into 
consideration the unique requirements of the 
region and local working practices to achieve 
optimum performance and timely delivery 
of projects. Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) is a fundamental part of implementing 
our corporate strategy and has both practical 
and ethical dimensions. It includes managing 
business concerns, such as risk, enhancing 
reputation in conjunction with investing in 
the community, and creating a place where 
people feel good about working. We contribute 
to community and social development 
by carrying out our business activities 
that provide energy and infrastructure, 
employment, skills development and trade 
to the areas in which we operate.

“We contribute to 
community and social 
development by carrying 
out our business activities 
that provide energy 
and infrastructure, 
employment, skills 
development and trade 
to the areas in which 
we operate.”

Health, Safety and Environment 
(“HSE”)
Hardy has tailored its HSE policy and 
management system taking reference 
from world class operations to suit Indian 
conditions. Safety, security and emergency 
procedures have been incorporated into the 
weave of Hardy’s operations. The Central HSE 
Committee and Environment Management 
Committees meet on a monthly basis to assess 
and monitor compliance. Hardy regularly 
undertakes internal and external HSE audits, 
including pre-mobilisation HSE audit of rigs 
and vessels. Hardy undertakes periodical 
environmental marine monitoring around 
production facilities and around the drilling 
locations. Prompt compliance with applicable 
regulations by Hardy has been recognised by 
concerned agencies.
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Safety performance at a glance:

   Days since last LTA 
  Date of last LTA* (as at 31.03.2007)

FPU – Tahara 20.02.2002 1,866
FSO – Endeavor ** 17.02.2007 42
OSV – Gal Beaufort Sea  29.05.2003 1,460
OSV – Ocean Garnet *** Nil 3,248

* LTA: lost time accident

** FSO – Endeavor met with a LTA after completing 1,020 days of safe working

*** OSV – Ocean Garnet has been working without any LTAs throughout the contract period

HSE activities during the year are highlighted:

+  FPU-Tahara recently completed 5 years 
without any lost time accident.

+  Hardy Environment Management Plan was 
revised and documented.

+  Naval marine commandos have conducted 
an emergency exercise “TULIP” on Tahara.

+  Environmental clearance for the Phase 
III Development jobs was obtained from 
Ministry of Environment & Forests. 

Hardy believes that prevention of accidents and 
ill health, and protection of the environment, 
are essential to the effi cient operation of its 
business. The Company is committed to high 
standards of health, safety and environmental, 
protection; these aspects command equal 
prominence with other business considerations 
in the decision making process.

Health, safety and environmental protection 
are responsibilities shared by everyone 
working for the Company, and the full 
support of all Hardy staff, corporate partners, 
and contractors is vital to the successful 
implementation of this policy. Hardy will 
ensure that personnel are aware of their 
delegated health, safety and environmental 
responsibilities and are properly trained 
to undertake them diligently. Hardy aims 
to ensure that the necessary resources are 
provided to support this policy fully and seek 
continuous improvement in performance.

High HSE standards and constant grass roots 
level interaction give Hardy the awareness of 
local communities’ sensibilities and needs. 
With an awareness driving the commitment, 
Hardy provides its expertise and resources, 
wherever required, to be a responsible Company. 
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Board of Directors

“The key challenges for 
the Company in 2007 are 
escalating exploration 
and development costs, 
the continued shortage of 
offshore drilling equipment, 
and retention and 
recruitment of experienced 
operational and technical 
personnel.”

Paul Mortimer, Chairman of Hardy

Paul Mortimer
Non-Executive Chairman
Paul Mortimer has been a non-executive 
director since Hardy’s inception in 1999 and 
was appointed Chairman on Hardy’s public 
listing in 2005. Mr Mortimer previously had 
a 30-year career in the oil, gas and mining 
industries, 23 years of which were with the 
Exxon Corporation.

During his years at Exxon, he was successively 
a Manager of the Dutch Gas Export effort, 
the Manager of Esso Netherlands Logistics 
Planning and Marine Department, the 
Corporate Planning Manager of Esso Europe 
in London, the Senior Vice President of Exxon 
Minerals, New York, and the Director and Vice 
President of Esso Argentina, Buenos Aires. 

Mr Mortimer was awarded a Rhodes Scholarship 
in 1957 and read Politics, Philosophy and 
Economics at Oxford. This was followed by 
an MBA at Harvard University and in 1962
 Mr Mortimer joined Exxon Corporation.

Mr Mortimer is a director of Rift Valley 
Holdings Limited, Hoegh Capital Partners 
Inc, Gemini Oil and Gas Limited, and Digital 
Ventures II Limited.

Sastry Karra
Chief Executive
Sastry Karra co-founded Hardy and was 
appointed Chief Executive on its initial public 
listing in 2005. Sastry has over 39 years’ 
experience in reservoir engineering and 
advisory positions in the oil industry, 
with early years in Husky Oil, Ashland Oil 
and Gulf Canada Resources.

He held senior management posts at 
Occidental, Libya and Petronas in Malaysia. 
Mr Karra also taught at the Petroleum 
Engineering Department in the University of 
Ibadan, Nigeria, while also consulting for the oil 
industry in Lagos. He holds a BSc in Petroleum 
Engineering from the University of Alberta 
and a Masters Degree in Chemical Engineering 
from the University of Calgary. Mr Karra has 
published technical papers in the Canadian 
Journal of Petroleum Technology and the 
Society of Petroleum Engineers’ Journal.
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Pradip Shah
Non-Executive Director
Mr Pradip Shah was appointed an independent 
non-executive director of Hardy in 2000. 
Mr Shah was the Managing Director of CRISIL, 
India’s fi rst and largest credit rating agency. 
Prior to founding CRISIL, Mr Pradip Shah 
assisted in founding the Housing Development 
Finance Corporation (HDFC) in 1977. Mr Shah 
has also served as a consultant to USAID, the 
World Bank and the Asian Development Bank. 
Mr Shah holds an MBA from Harvard Business 
School and a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from Sydenham College, Mumbai. He is also a 
Chartered Accountant and a Cost Accountant 
and ranked fi rst in India in the Chartered 
Accountancy Examination.

Mr Shah is a director on the boards of several 
companies. He is also a member of various 
prestigious committees/commissions. 
He is presently the Chairman of Indasia 
Fund Advisors Pvt. Ltd. 

Dr Carol Bell
Non-Executive Director
Dr Carol Bell was appointed as an independent 
non-executive director on 16 December 2005. 
Dr Bell has over 20 years’ experience in the oil 
and gas sector, most recently as the Managing 
Director of Chase Manhattan’s Investment Bank 
with responsibility for oil and gas. Prior to that 
she was the Global Head of J.P. Morgan’s Energy 
team in Equity Research. Carol began her career 
in corporate planning and development with 
RTZ Oil and Gas and subsequently worked with 
Charterhouse Petroleum plc. 

She was awarded a PhD in the archaeology of 
ancient trade in May 2005. Dr Bell is a member 
of the Investment Advisory Committee of 
Gemini Oil and Gas (an oil and gas royalty 
fund). She is also currently Honorary Treasurer 
of the British School at Athens and Chairman 
of the Investment Committee of Girton 
College, Cambridge.

Yogeshwar Sharma
Managing Director
Yogeshwar Sharma co-founded Hardy and was 
appointed Managing Director on the initial 
public offering in 2005. Yogeshwar has over 
30 years of international experience in the oil 
industry in both operations and research with 
particular emphasis in reservoir engineering. 
His early career was at Energy Resources 
Conservation Board and Pan Canadian in 
Calgary, Canada and ARAMCO in Saudi 
Arabia. He later held senior technical positions 
at Schlumberger with assignments in London, 
Holland and Schlumberger labs In Connecticut, 
USA. Subsequently Mr Sharma worked at Elf 
International in Pau, France and London where 
in 1991 he was instrumental in founding the 
Elf Geoscience Research centre. 

He was an external examiner at Heriot-Watt 
University between 1993 and 1995 and has 
regularly contributed technical papers in the 
SPE. Yogeshwar holds a BSc in Mechanical 
Engineering from the University of Alberta 
with post-graduate studies in Chemical 
Engineering at the University of Calgary. 
Mr Sharma is an Executive Director with 
delegated responsibility for the Group’s 
fi nance and administrative functions.
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The Directors of Hardy Oil and Gas plc present their annual report for the year ended 31 December 2006 together with the audited fi nancial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2006. 

Business review and future developments
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings are oil and gas exploration and production and provision of technical 
services to its joint venture partners in India and Nigeria. A full review of the Company’s activities during the year, recent events and future 
developments are contained in the Chairman’s Statement and the Chief Executive’s review. The Directors are satisfi ed with the results for the 
period and are confi dent that the business will continue to develop as planned.

Results and dividends
The fi nancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 show a profi t of $7,993,453 (2005: $5,444,973). The Directors have not proposed 
a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Listing
On 9 February 2006, Hardy raised additional equity of $24.53m (£14.13m after expenses) by way of placing 5,204,660 ordinary shares of $0.01 
each at a price of 283p ($4.92) per share. This funding was used to meet Hardy’s ongoing working capital commitments.

Directors’ benefi cial interest in shares
The Directors who held offi ce during the period and their benefi cial interests in the ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

   As at As at
   31 December  31 December
   2006 2005

Sastry Karra  Chief Executive  9,255,200 9,245,200
Yogeshwar Sharma  Managing Director  4,629,400 4,629,400
E.P. Mortimer  Non-Executive Chairman  812,500 812,500
Pradip Shah  Non-Executive Director  609,435 609,435
Carol Bell  Non-Executive Director  Nil  Nil 

The Directors have no benefi cial interests other than the above and their entitlement of share options listed below. 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Sastry Karra retired at the 2005 Annual General Meeting (AGM) (28 June 2006). 
Being eligible, he offered himself for re-election and was re-elected. In addition, Mr Shah will retire at this year’s AGM. Being eligible he offers 
himself for re-election.

Directors’ interest in share options
The Company granted share options to Directors and the details of outstanding share options are as follows:

 Date of grant  Date of expiry Exercise price No of options

Sastry Karra 7 June 2005 6 June 2016 144p 780,700
Yogeshwar Sharma 7 June 2005 6 June 2016 144p 780,700
E.P. Mortimer 7 June 2005 6 June 2016 144p 260,233
Pradip Shah 7 June 2005 6 June 2016 144p 260,233
Carol Bell 22 December 2005 21 December 2016 276p 260,233

The options vesting schedule is one third (1/3) per year on the anniversary of the date of grant.

Directors’ Report
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Major interests in share capital
As of this report 57,252,994 ordinary shares are issued and fully paid. On 31 December the ordinary shares outstanding were 57,252,994. 
Major interests in the share capital of the Company in excess of 3.00% as on 1 March 2007 are as follows:

   Number of shares % of shares

Limpopo Investments Limited    6,774,162   11.83%
Lloyds TSB Group plc    3,040,161   5.31%
Interstellar Enterprise Limited    2,402,105   4.20%
AEGON Asset Management    2,181,343   3.81%
Grahame Whately    2,059,555   3.60%
Pomor Holding Limited    2,037,583   3.56%
Vind Sweden AB    2,037,583   3.56%
Universities Superannuation Scheme Limited    2,012,608  3.52%

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
Company law requires the Directors to prepare fi nancial statements for each fi nancial period that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Company and the Group at the end of that period and of the profi t or loss of the Group for the period. In preparing those fi nancial statements 
the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 

the fi nancial statements;
• prepare the fi nancial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to assume that the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the fi nancial position 
of the Company and of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the fi nancial statements comply with the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Directors’ report and other information included in the annual report are prepared in accordance 
with Company Law of the Isle of Man and are also responsible for ensuring that the annual report includes information required by the AIM rules. 
In addition to the above, the Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and of the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud or other irregularities.

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware and the Directors have taken 
all steps that ought to be taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

Auditors
In accordance with the Companies Acts 1931 to 2004, a resolution proposing that Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP be re-appointed as auditors of the 
Company was put to the Annual General Meeting held on 28 June 2006.

By Order of the Board

Approved by the Board on 2 April 2007 and signed on its behalf by

Yogeshwar Sharma
Managing Director
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Compliance
Hardy believes in high standards of corporate governance and considers this one of the principal functions of its Directors in addition to 
wealth creation to its shareholders. The process for governance is carried out in line with Hardy’s business strategy. In accordance with AIM rules, 
the Directors are accountable to shareholders for good corporate governance. Hardy supports the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, 
which sets out a Code of Best Practice for listed companies updated following the Higgs and Smith reviews. Hardy applies the Combined Code 
as appropriate for a small oil and gas company listed on AIM.

Board of Directors
COMPOSITION 
The Board is comprised of fi ve Directors, two executive and three non-executive. Each of the executive Directors has extensive knowledge of the 
oil and gas industry. The non-executive Directors either have held or currently hold senior appointments in oil and gas companies or companies 
with energy interests. Together the non-executive Directors bring a broad range of business and commercial experience to the Board. The Board 
believes that its composition gives a good balance of skills for a small independent, AIM listed, oil exploration and production company.

ROLE OF THE BOARD 
The Board is accountable to the shareholders for the creation and delivery of strong, sustainable fi nancial performance and long-term shareholder 
value. To achieve this, the Board directs and monitors the Group’s affairs. It sets the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the necessary 
resources are in place to achieve these aims, and reviews management and fi nancial performance.

Non-executive Directors
Mr E.P. Mortimer (Chairman), Mr Pradip Shah and Dr Carol Bell are independent non-executive Directors. 

INDEPENDENCE
The Board considers that independence is a matter of judgment and therefore it believes that the non-executive Directors should be free from any 
business or other relationships that could materially interfere in exercise of their independent judgment. Non-executive Directors should receive 
fair remuneration for the time devoted and the responsibilities involved in carrying out their duties.

In addition to the Directors’ fees, they have been vested with certain share options under the unapproved share options scheme of the Company. 
The Board recognises that Mr Mortimer’s and Mr Shah’s independence may be called into question, given their shareholdings in the Company. 
Nevertheless, the Board considers that their independence is not prejudiced or compromised by this, and when taken with their experience and 
knowledge of the Company’s valuable contributions to the Board, challenging and valuable contributors to the Board. The Board fi rmly believes 
that all the non-executive Directors are independent irrespective of their shareholding and share options in the Company.

How the Board operates
BOARD MEETINGS 
The Board aims to meet at least four times during the year and on an ad hoc basis as required. In addition to the formal meetings of the Board, 
the executive Directors maintain frequent contact with the non-executive Directors to discuss issues affecting the Company.

INFORMATION FLOW 
The Chairman establishes the agenda for each Board meeting. Board agendas are discussed at each meeting based on suffi cient information on 
each matter to all the Board of Directors. Board meeting agendas are circulated to each board member prior to each meeting. Each agenda item 
is discussed with suffi cient information on each matter to allow Board members to make informed decision.

Before each meeting the Board aims to review the management accounts, consisting of balance sheet, profi t and loss account and cash fl ow up to 
the quarter ending before the meeting. In addition exploration, development and production activities of various production sharing contracts are 
submitted for review and consideration. If there are any matters reserved specifi cally for Board approval the Board plans to discuss and evaluate 
each item prior to approval. If decisions are required to be made by the Board between Board meetings, management aim to circulate papers 
containing information on the circular resolution which are passed as applicable.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE 
There is an agreed procedure whereby Directors may seek independent advice at the Company’s expense if required, while carrying out their duties 
as Directors.

Corporate Governance
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MATTERS RESERVED AND DELEGATIONS 
A formal schedule of matters is reserved for consideration by the Board. The matters reserved include the Group’s overall strategy, approval 
of annual and interim results, acquisitions and disposals, material contracts, major capital expenditure projects and budgets. Subject to those 
reserved matters, the Board delegates authority for the management of the business primarily to the Executive Directors and certain other 
matters are delegated to the principal Board Committees, namely the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees.

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
Each Director’s position is subject to satisfactory performance of their responsibilities and is subject to re-appointment by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting. During the year no formal evaluation of the Board, its committees and Directors was made. Although there was no 
formal evaluation of the composition and operation of the Board, its committees, or the contribution of each of the Directors, they are considered 
regularly on an informal basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board established Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees, each of which has terms of reference (approved by the Board) setting 
out its authority and duties. In 2006 the Board considered various issues that would normally fall within the terms of reference of the various 
Committees. All non-executive Directors sit on the Audit Committee and both executive and non-executive Directors sit on the Remuneration 
Committee and Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee meet as and when required, but at least 
once a year. The Audit Committee meets as and when required and at least once a year, to review the accounting information in detail prior to 
its publication. The Company’s auditors attend one of these meetings to discuss any audit related issues and to review formally with committee 
members the reports issued to the Company by the auditors. The Audit Committee ensures that any non-audit services conform to the ethical 
standards for auditors issued by the UK Auditing Practices Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee currently comprises of Dr Carol Bell (Chairman), Mr Pradip Shah and Mr E.P. Mortimer. Dr Bell and Mr Shah both have 
extensive banking and fi nancial experience. Based upon this, the Board is satisfi ed that the Audit Committee members have recent and relevant 
fi nancial experience. The main responsibilities of the Committee include:

• monitoring the integrity of the fi nancial statements and any formal announcement relating to the Company’s fi nancial performance;
• reviewing signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues, reviewing accounting policies and disclosures in fi nancial reports;
• reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control procedures and risk management systems;
• making recommendations to the Board as to the appointment or re-appointment of the Company’s external auditors; and
• overseeing the selection of new auditors and the relationship with the external auditor.

The Audit Committee aims to meet at least three times a year. The Audit Committee met formally twice in 2006, in March 2006 prior to the 
publication of the 2005 accounts and in December 2006 to review the audit strategy for the 2006 accounts.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee comprises Mr E.P. Mortimer (Chairman), Mr Pradip Shah, two non-executive Directors, and Mr Sastry Karra, 
Executive Director. The main responsibilities of the Committee include:

• reviewing the structure, size, composition, and skills of the Board and making recommendations to the Board of any changes required;
• planning succession for Directors and other senior executives;
• identifying and nominating, for Board approval, candidates to fi ll Board vacancies as and when they arise;
• making recommendations to the Board with regard to membership of the Audit and Remuneration Committees in consultation with the 

Chairman of each Committee.

The Nomination Committee aims to meet twice a year. No formal meeting of the Nomination Committee was held in 2006. Any new appointments 
to the Board are considered by the Nomination Committee and made only after the Board’s approval. Immediately after the appointment, new 
Directors are given a detailed presentation of the activities of the Company. If an appointment is made without using an external search agency 
or open advertisement, the entire Board sits to select the new Director.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company’s Remuneration Committee comprises one non-executive Director, Mr E.P. Mortimer, and one executive Director, Mr Sastry Karra. 
Mr E.P. Mortimer is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Hardy’s Remuneration Committee operates within the terms of reference made by 
the Board. The Remuneration Committee aims to meet on at least one occasion each year to determine the remuneration packages of all Directors and 
staff for the forthcoming year. Whilst the committee did not meet in 2006 they did meet in January 2007 to discuss employee remuneration packages.
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The Company is committed to a policy of establishing a remuneration which is appropriate to their level of responsibility and will always attract, 
retain and motivate executives of the necessary calibre. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board in terms of reference, an overall 
remuneration policy for the Directors and other executives. The Remuneration Committee while considering remuneration packages of Hardy 
Executives reviews the policies of comparable groups in the industry. As and when required, the Committee takes external professional advice 
for determining the appropriate remuneration policy for Hardy executives.

Shareholder relations
Communication with shareholders is given high priority and there is regular dialogue with institutional investors, as well as general presentations 
at the time of the release of the annual and interim results. The Company issues its results promptly to individual shareholders and also publishes 
them on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s website. The Company’s website is www.hardyoil.com. Regular updates to record news in 
relation to the Company and the status of exploration and development programmes are also included on the Company’s website. Shareholders 
and other interested parties can subscribe to receive these news updates by email by registering on-line on the website.

The Chairman, Chief Executive and Managing Director are available to meet with institutional shareholders to discuss any issues and gain an 
understanding of any concerns in relation to the Company’s governance and strategy. Non-executive Directors have the opportunity to attend 
meetings with major shareholders and will attend if requested to do so.

Internal controls
The Board of Directors reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls in line with the requirement of the Combined 
Code. The internal control system is designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve its business objectives. This covers internal fi nancial and 
operational controls, compliances and risk management. The Board considers it necessary to comply with the provisions of Section 1 of the 
Combined Code and to implement the guidance. The Company has necessary procedures in place for the year under review and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and accounts.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Company’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board 
confi rms the need for an ongoing process for identifi cation, evaluation and management of signifi cant risks faced by the Company.

A risk assessment for each project is carried out by a team consisting of the Executive Directors and Senior Management before making 
the fi nancial commitment. This team meets as and when required. Internal and external risks, including exploration and development risks, 
regulatory and compliance obligations under various production sharing contracts, oil price, interest rate and currency exposure, as well 
as natural catastrophes, are continuously assessed.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control through detailed consideration of the fi nancial control procedures in 
place.It intends this to be an ongoing process. Given the size of the Company, the relative simplicity of the systems, and the close involvement 
of senior management, the Board considers that there is no current requirement for an internal audit function. The procedures that have been 
established to provide internal fi nancial control are considered appropriate for a company of its size, and include controls over expenditure, 
regular reconciliations, annual budgeting and monthly management accounts.

The Directors are responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Going concern
The Directors made enquiries and having reviewed the latest cash fl ow forecast to April 2008, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that 
the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and for this reason they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Share options
The Company’s share option scheme (unapproved) has been considered and approved by the shareholders in 2006. Options are not granted at 
a discount to the market value. Under the scheme, options are exercisable between the fi rst and tenth anniversaries of the date of grant and the 
performance target is based on the share price over the period from the date of grant. In fi rst year performance period, one third of the options 
will become exercisable at or after 12 months following the date of grant. One third of the options will become exercisable at or after 24 months 
following the date of grant. The remaining one third of the options become exercisable at or after 36 months following the date of grant. 

Corporate Governance (continued)
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Principal licence interests
   Interest Operator

India
CY-OS-90/1   Cauvery Offshore 18% Hardy
CY-OS/2   Cauvery Offshore 75% Hardy
GS-OSN-2000/1   Saurashtra Offshore 10% Reliance
KG-DWN-2001/1   Krishna Godavari 10% Reliance
KG-DWN-2003/1   Krishna Godavari 10% Reliance

Nigeria   
OZA   Onshore fi eld 40% Millenium
ATALA   Onshore fi eld 20% Bayelsa

Oil and gas reserves
    Direct
   Net commercial  participating 
   reserves interest basis 
Net entitlement basis    Mbbls Mbbls

As at 1 January 2006
– Commercial developed reserves   2,341 1,918
– Commercial undeveloped   1,890 1,340
   4,231 3,258

Production   (381) (308)

Net commercial reserves
At 31 December 2006

– Commercial developed reserves   1,960 1,610
– Commercial undeveloped   1,890 1,340

   3,850 2,950

Oil and Gas Reserves
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We have audited the group and parent company fi nancial statements 
(the “fi nancial statements”) of Hardy Oil and Gas plc for the year ended 
31 December 2006 which comprise the Group Profi t and Loss Account, 
the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Group Statement of 
Total Recognised Gains/Losses, the Reconciliation of Movements in 
Shareholders’ Funds, the Group Cash Flow Statement and the related 
notes numbered 1 to 26. These fi nancial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, 
in accordance with Section 15 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the company and the company’s shareholders as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and 
the fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the fi nancial statements in accordance 
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the fi nancial statements 
give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with 
the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to 2004. We also report to you if, 
in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the fi nancial 
statements, if the company has not kept proper accounting records, if 
we have not received all the information and explanations we require 
for our audit, or if information specifi ed by law regarding directors’ 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

As the company is listed on the Alternative Investment Market, 
it is not required to comply with the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance. It has, however, chosen voluntarily to comply with 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority in respect of 
Corporate Governance disclosures.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement refl ects 
the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC 
Combined Code specifi ed for our review by the Listing Rules of the 
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not 
required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal 
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance procedures 
or its risk and control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report, and consider 
whether it is consistent with the audited fi nancial statements. This other 
information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement, the Operational 
Review, the Financial Review, the Corporate Governance Statement, the 
Statement of Oil and Gas Reserves and the Directors’ Report. We consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the fi nancial statements. 
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to 
the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. It also includes 
an assessment of the signifi cant estimates and judgments made by the 
directors in the preparation of the fi nancial statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information 
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with suffi cient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the fi nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in 
the fi nancial statements.

Opinion 
In our opinion the fi nancial statements: 

• give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the 
group’s and the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2006 
and of the group’s profi t for the year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Isle of Man 
Companies Acts 1931 to 2004

Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP
Chartered Accountants and 
Registered Auditors
2 April 2007
London

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Shareholders of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
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      2005
    2006 Restated
  Notes  $ $

Turnover – continuing operations  2 21,316,935 17,574,440

Cost of sales

Production costs    (2,973,200) (2,951,270)
(Decrease) in stock   (25,886) (296,340)
Depletion    (5,072,414) (1,562,933)
Decommissioning charge    (304,899) (57,779)

Gross profi t    12,940,536 12,706,118
Other operating income   3 1,000,000 –

Administrative expenses    
Other   (4,301,846) (3,763,947)
Exceptional item  4 (1,398,570) (925,038)

Operating profi t  5 8,240,120 8,017,133

Income from other fi xed asset investments    151,289 165,570
Interest receivable and similar income  8 2,137,665 724,526
Interest payable and similar charges  9 (275,428) (361,204)

Profi t on ordinary activities before taxation    10,253,646 8,546,025

Tax on profi t on ordinary activities
– current  10 462,945 (318,894)
– deferred  10 (2,723,138) (2,782,158)

    (2,260,193) (3,101,052)

Profi t for the fi nancial year    7,993,453 5,444,973

Earnings per ordinary share – basic  1 0.14 0.11

Earnings per ordinary share – diluted  1 0.13 0.11

The notes on pages 27 to 39 form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.

Group Profi t and Loss Account 
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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    Group
   Group 2005
   2006 Restated
   $ $

Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year   7,993,453 5,444,973
Prior year adjustment as explained in note (1)   (219,792) – 

Total gain recognised since last annual report    7,773,661 – 

Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ Funds
for the year ended 31 December 2006

  Group  Company
 Group 2005 Company 2005
 2006 Restated 2006 Restated
 $ $ $ $

Profi t/(loss) for the fi nancial year 7,993,453 5,444,973 283,578 (1,573,428)
New share capital subscribed 24,527,092 20,772,691  24,527,092 20,772,691 
Shares to be issued 687,459 252,634 687,459 252,634
Opening shareholders’ funds  49,948,317 23,478,019  26,603,688 7,151,791

Closing shareholders’ funds 83,156,321 49,948,317  52,101,817 26,603,688

Statement of Total Recognised Gains/Losses 
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     Group  Company
  Group 2005 Company 2005
   2006 Restated 2006 Restated
 Notes  $ $ $ $

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 12 33,788,334 9,547,305 – –
Tangible assets  13 35,770,629 11,395,296 243,441 289,724
Investments  14 4,997,036 2,218,122 31,651,267 6,121,434

    74,555,999 23,160,723 31,894,708 6,411,158

Current assets          
Stocks 16  2,729,764 349,929 – –
Deferred tax asset 10 – 745,000 790,801 –
Debtors 17 4,637,062 4,343,755 251,931 1,207,705
Cash at bank and in hand   27,275,599 31,234,376 19,318,159 19,359,627

    34,642,425 36,673,060 20,360,891 20,567,332

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 (16,809,807) (5,267,588) (153,782) (374,802)

Net current assets   17,832,618 31,405,472 20,201,109 20,192,530

Total assets less current liabilities    92,388,617 54,566,195 52,101,817 26,603,688
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year  – – – –
Provisions for liabilities  19 (4,500,000) (1,863,720) – –
Deferred tax liability 10 (4,732,296) (2,754,158) – –

Net assets   83,156,321 49,948,317 52,101,817 26,603,688

Capital and reserves          
Called-up share capital 21 572,530 520,467 572,530 520,467
Share premium 23 52,982,983 28,507,954 52,982,983 28,507,954
Shares to be issued 22 940,093 252,634 940,093 252,634
Profi t and loss account   28,660,715 20,667,262 (2,393,789) (2,677,367)

Equity shareholders’ funds   83,156,321 49,948,317 52,101,817 26,603,688

The accounts were approved by the board of directors on 2 April 2007 and signed on its behalf by:
 
Yogeshwar Sharma E.P. Mortimer
Managing Director  Chairman

The notes on pages 27 to 39 form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
 

Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2006 
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    2006 2005
   Notes  $ $

Net cash infl ow from operating activities  24 23,942,864 11,044,390 
       
Returns on investments and servicing of fi nance      
Income from other fi xed asset investments   151,289 165,570
Interest received    2,224,783  487,432 
Interest paid    (275,428) (304,954)

Net cash infl ow from return on investments and servicing of fi nance    2,100,644 348,048
       
Taxation paid    (143,280) (972,329)
       
Capital expenditure and fi nancial investment      
Expenditure on exploration assets    (51,034,004) (7,735,427)
Expenditure on development/producing assets    (148,215) 1,014,104
Purchase of other fi xed assets    (424,964) (458,012)
Purchase of listed securities   (2,778,914) –

Net cash outfl ow from capital expenditure and fi nancial investment    (54,386,097) (7,179,335)
 

Management of liquid resources
Cash placed on deposit with state Bank of India for site restoration fund   (2,784,660) –
   
Net cash (outfl ow)/infl ow before fi nancing   (31,270,529) 3,240,774
        
Financing      
Issue of shares     24,527,092 20,772,691
Repayment of bank loan    – (1,861,251)

     24,527,092 18,911,440

(Decrease)/increase in cash for the year  25  (6,743,437)  22,152,214 

 

Group Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting policies have been applied in preparation of consolidated fi nancial statements of Hardy Oil and Gas plc.

Accounting convention
The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention.

Accounting standards
The Group prepares its accounts in accordance with the accounting standards of the United Kingdom and in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (“SORP”) issued by the Oil Industry Accounting Committee, United Kingdom on Accounting for Oil and Gas Exploration, 
Development, Production and Decommissioning Activities.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated accounts include the results of Hardy Oil and Gas plc, and its subsidiary undertakings. The consolidated profi t and loss account 
and cash fl ow statement include the results and cash fl ows of subsidiary undertakings up to the date of disposal. No separate Company profi t and 
loss account is presented.

The Group conducts the majority of its exploration, development and production through unincorporated joint arrangements with other 
companies. The accounts refl ect the Group’s share of production and costs attributable to its participating interests under the proportional 
consolidation method.

Turnover
Turnover represents the sale value of the Group’s share of oil (excluding the GOI share of profi t oil) sold in the year, tariff, and the income from 
technical services to third parties if any.

Fixed assets
Hardy follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas assets. Under this method, all expenditure incurred in connection with and directly 
attributable to the acquisition, exploration, appraisal and development of oil and gas assets, interest payable and exchange differences incurred 
on borrowings directly attributable to development projects if any is capitalised in two geographical cost pools: India and Nigeria.

Exploration assets comprise the pre-licence, licence acquisition, exploration and appraisal costs relating either to unevaluated properties or 
properties awaiting further evaluation. When a decision to develop these properties has been taken or there is evidence of impairment, the costs 
are transferred as development costs to the cost pools within “Development/producing assets” when the commercial reserves attributable to the 
underlying asset have been established.

Further expenditure on fi xed assets in the production phase is capitalised where future economic benefi t is enhanced.

In case of any disposal of oil and gas assets, net proceeds from any such disposal are credited against the previously capitalised costs. In the case 
of disposal of a subsidiary undertaking, net proceeds represent the net book value of the assets sold together with the gain or loss arising on 
disposal of that subsidiary.

Depletion, impairment and depreciation
DEPLETION
The Group depletes expenditure on oil and gas production and development on a unit of production basis, based on proved and probable 
reserves. Further, the Company periodically obtains an independent third party assessment of reserves and this assessment is used as a basis 
for computing depletion. 

IMPAIRMENT
Exploration assets are reviewed regularly for indications of impairment if any, where circumstances indicate that the carrying value might not be 
recoverable. In such circumstances if the exploration asset has a corresponding development / producing cost pool, then the exploration costs are 
transferred to the cost pool and are written off on a unit of production basis through the depletion charge. In cases, where no such development/
producing cost pool exists, the impairment of exploration costs is charged to the profi t and loss account. Impairment reviews on development/ 
producing oil and gas assets are carried out for each cost pool in each year by comparing the net book value of the pool with the associated 
discounted future cash fl ows. If the net book value is higher, then the difference is written off to the profi t and loss account as impairment. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

DEPRECIATION
Fixed assets, other than oil and gas assets, are depreciated over their expected useful economic lives as follows:

   Annual  Depreciation 
   rate (%) method

Leasehold improvements   over lease period straight line
Furniture and fi xtures   20% straight line
IT and computers   33% straight line
Other equipment   20% straight line

Decommissioning
At the end of the producing life of a fi eld, costs are to be incurred in the removing and decommissioning facilities, and the plugging and 
abandoning of existing wells. Decommissioning costs are estimated and stated at an amount representing the costs which would be incurred 
should decommissioning occur at the balance sheet date and the estimates are reassessed each year. The provision is assessed at prices ruling at 
the balance sheet date and, accordingly, it is not appropriate to discount this provision. The decommissioning asset is included within fi xed assets 
with the cost of the related assets installed. The amortisation of the asset, calculated on a unit of production basis based on proved and probable 
reserves, is shown as “Decommissioning charge” in the profi t and loss account.

Foreign currencies
Hardy maintains the accounts of the Company and all subsidiary undertakings in US dollars. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the 
exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction. At the year end all foreign currency assets are restated at the average of the buying and the 
selling exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange difference arising out of actual payments / realisations and from the year 
end restatement referred to above is dealt with in the profi t and loss account.

Rates of exchange were as follows:

  31 December 2006  31 December 2005

£ to $  1.9658  1.7191
$ to Indian Rupees (Rs)  44.1700  45.1300

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions 
or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more or a right to pay less or to receive more tax.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than not there will be suitable taxable profi ts 
from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, 
based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Leasing commitments
Rental charges or charter hire charges payable under operating leases are charged to the profi t and loss account as part of production expenses 
over the lease term. 

Share based payments
Hardy issues share options to directors and employees, which are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of the equity settled 
options determined at the grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period based on the actual number of shares vested in 
the accounting period. In performing the valuation of these options, only conditions other than the market conditions were taken into account. 
Fair value is measured by use of a binomial model and the assumed expected life of the share options is based on estimates of management 
considering non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and expected behavioural considerations.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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Change in accounting policy
Hardy has applied the provisions of FRS20 (on share based payments) for the fi rst time in the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006. 
The effect of this change in policy in line with FRS20 has decreased the profi t before tax in the current year by $595,762 and in the year ended 
31 December 2005 by $267,471. The adjustment of $267,471 for 2005 has a net impact of $219,792 after adjusting for a gain in exchange, 
of $14,837, and change in the deferred tax asset of $32,842. The 2005 comparatives have been restated and regrouped wherever necessary. 
There is no effect on net assets arising from this change in policy as the charge for the share based payments and the associated movements are 
taken as “Shares to be Issued” under the equity reserves.

2. TURNOVER AND SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

  2006 2006 2005  2005
  $ $ $ $
Turnover  India London India London

Continuing operations    
– Oil sales  24,731,952 – 21,308,877 –
– Profi t oil to government   (4,714,128) – (3,983,854) –
– Other income   154 1,298,957 2,641 246,776

  20,017,978 1,298,957 17,327,664 246,776

The directors do not consider there to be more than one class of business or geographic segment as the turnover in other geographic segments 
is less than 10% of the total turnover. Other income relates to technical services to third parties, overhead recovery from joint venture operations 
and miscellaneous receipts if any. Turnover arises from sale of oil produced from the contract area CY-OS-90/1-India (PY-3) and the turnover by 
destination is not materially different from the turnover by origin. 

3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income relates to the insurance claim on business interruption received in 2006. The claim relates to an accident which occurred 
in November 2002. This income has been accounted for based on the acceptance of the claim by the underwriters and receipt of payment.

4. EXCEPTIONAL ITEM

Administrative costs include an exceptional cost of $1,398,570 (2005: $925,038) relating to a dispute between Hardy and HOEC and others 
referred to LCIA for adjudication on certain rights and obligation for Hardy’s 8.5% equity shareholding in HOEC.

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profi t is stated after charging:

   2006 2005
   $ $

Depreciation   249,788 82,393
Depletion   5,072,414 1,562,933
Decommissioning   304,899 57,779
Operating lease costs – plant and machinery   1,803,478 1,887,686
 – land and buildings   292,881 162,450
External auditors’ remuneration  
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts   64,871 34,081

Other services pursuant to legislation   1,401 209,730
  
Exchange (gain)/loss   (99,952) 578,990

The Group has a policy in place for the award of non-audit work to the auditors, which requires approval of the Audit Committee. 
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6. STAFF COSTS

   2006 2005
   $ $

Wages and salaries   2,363,687 1,956,093
Social security costs   144,493 93,662
Other pension costs    16,958 9,410
 Share based payments   408,191 202,791

   2,933,329 2,261,956

 
Staffs costs include executive director’s salaries; fees, benefi ts and share based payments are shown gross before amounts recharged to joint ventures.

The weighted average monthly number of employees, including executive directors and individuals employed by the Group working on joint 
venture operations are as follows:

   2006 2005

Management and administration   22 18
Operations   26 26

   48 44

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of remunerations are as follows:

   2006 2005
   $ $

Directors’ emoluments   659,132 813,503
Highest paid    481,596 359,099

8. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

   2006 2005
   $ $

Bank interest   2,137,665 724,526
Other interest   – –

   2,137,665 724,526

9. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES

   2006 2005
   $ $

Bank guarantee charges   267,985 361,204
Other fi nance charges   7,443 –

   275,428 361,204

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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10. TAXATION

a) Analysis of taxation charge in year
   2006 2005
   $ $

Current tax charge   
UK Corporation Tax    – –

  
Foreign tax  
India  
Minimum Alternate Tax on profi ts for the year    – 497,894
Previous year provision reversed   (482,000) (179,000)

   (482,000) 318,894

Foreign tax
USA   19,055 
Minimum Alternate Tax on profi ts for the year   – –

   –  – 

Total current tax charge   (462,945) 318,894

Deferred tax charges   2,723,138 2,782,158

Tax on profi t on ordinary activities   2,260,193 3,101,052

Deferred tax charge:  
Origination and reversal of timing difference   2,723,138 2,782,158

Deferred tax charges   2,723,138 2,782,158

   2006 2005
Deferred tax analysis – Group only   $ $

Differences between accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortisation and capital allowances  (17,648,883) (4,183,000)

Other timing differences   1,451,218 591,842
Tax losses   11,465,369 1,582,000

Deferred tax (liability)/asset   (4,732,296) (2,009,158)
Disclosed as:
Deferred tax (liability)   (4,732,296) (2,754,158)
Deferred tax asset   – 745,000
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10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

 b) Factors affecting tax charge for year
   2006 2005
   $ $

Profi t on ordinary activities before tax   10,253,646 8,546,025
Profi t on ordinary activities before tax multiplied by the rate of tax in UK of 30%   3,076,094 2,563,808
Mineral extraction and research allowances in excess of depreciation and utilisation of tax losses  (3,076,094) (2,563,808)
Effects of non-taxable income   – –
Foreign tax on overseas income – current year   – 318,894
 – reversal of previous year provisions   (462,945) –

c) Tax allowances
The Indian operation of the Group is subject to a tax rate of 41.82 % which is higher than UK and US corporate tax rates. Due to the existence of 
tax treaties the Group is entitled to receive credit for the taxes paid in India. Based on the current expenditure plans, the Group anticipates that the 
tax allowances will continue to exceed the depletion charge of each year though the timing of related tax relief is uncertain.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings per share are calculated on a profi t of $7,993,453 (2005: $5,444,973) on a weighted average of 56,695,898 ordinary shares 
(2005: 47,871,777).

The diluted earnings per share are calculated on a profi t of $7,993,453 (2005: $5,444,973) on a weighted average of 59,367,997 ordinary 
shares (2005: 50,588,876). The weighted average of shares is arrived at after giving impact to dilutive potential ordinary shares of 2,672,099 
(2005: 2,717,099) relating to share options.

12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Oil and gas exploration assets

  India Nigeria  Total
Group  $ $ $

Costs and net book value
At 1 January 2006  8,451,479 1,095,826 9,547,305
Additions  50,430,702 603,302 51,034,004
Deletions – transfer to tangible asset  (26,792,975) – (26,792,975)

At 31 December 2006  32,089,206 1,699,128 33,788,334

At 31 December 2005   8,451,479 1,095,826 9,547,305

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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13. TANGIBLE ASSETS 

Oil and gas assets represent interest in producing oil and gas assets falling under the Indian cost pool. There are no oil and gas tangible assets 
currently in the Nigerian cost pool. Other tangible assets consist of offi ce furniture, computers, workstations and offi ce equipment.

Oil and gas development/producing assets
  Oil and gas Other fi xed
  assets assets Total
Group  $ $ $

At 1 January 2006  10,949,216 446,080 11,395,296
Additions  2,784,495 424,964 3,209,459
Transfer from intangible asset  26,792,975 – 26,792,975
Disposals  – (1,683) (1,683)

At 31 December 2006   60,408,540 2,873,984 63,282,524

Depletion, depreciation and amortisation

At 1 January 2006  19,881,854 2,004,623 21,886,477
Charge for the year  5,377,313 249,788 5,627,101
Disposals  – (1,683) (1,683)

At 31 December 2006  25,259,167  2,252,728 27,511,895

Net book value at 31 December 2006  35,149,373 621,256 35,770,629

Net book value at 31 December 2005  10,949,216 446,080 11,395,296

    Other 
    assets
Company    $

Cost
At 1 January 2006    400,580
Additions    52,438
Disposals    –

At 31 December 2006    453,018

Depreciation
At 1 January 2006    110,856
Charge for the year    98,721
Disposals    –

At 31 December 2006    209,577
Net book value at 31 December 2006    243,441

Net book value at 31 December 2005    289,724
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14. INVESTMENTS

Summary of investments
 Group Group Company Company 
 2006 2005 2006 2006
 $ $ $ $

Shares in subsidiary companies – – 4,131,231 3,903,312
Loans to subsidiaries – – 22,523,000 –
Other investments 4,997,036 2,218,122 4,997,036 2,218,122

 4,997,036  2,218,122 31,651,267 6,121,434

Other investments represents investment in 6,657,694 equity shares of an Indian company, Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited, 
listed on the National Stock Exchange and the Bombay Stock Exchange in India which includes the allotment of 1,664,423 shares under the rights 
issue in 2006 at a price of Rs76 per share. The market value of the shares as on 31 December 2006 is $13.84m based on Rs91.80 per share quoted 
at the National Stock Exchange on 30 December 2006 converted at an exchange rate of one $ = Rs44.17 (2005: $17.97m at a price of Rs167 per 
share at an exchange rate of 1$ = Rs45.13).

15. SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

• Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, United States of America.
• Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary registered under the laws of the Isle of Man.
• Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited registered under the laws of Nigeria.
• The above subsidiaries are included in the Group consolidation. 

16. STOCKS

 Group Group Company Company 
 2006 2005 2006 2006
 $ $ $ $

Crude oil 154,529 180,415 – –
Drilling and production stores and spares 2,575,235 169,514 – –

 2,729,764 349,929 –  – 

17. DEBTORS

 Group Group Company Company 
 2006 2005 2006 2006
 $ $ $ $

Trade debtors 2,363,197 2,308,459 – –
Owed by subsidiary undertakings – – – 960,726
Other debtors 931,640 486,548 247,277 178,901
Advance tax paid in India 985,659 379,435 – –
Prepayments and accrued income 356,566 1,169,313 4,654 68,078

 4,637,062 4,343,755 251,931 1,207,705

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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18. CREDITORS – AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

 Group Group Company Company 
 2006 2005 2006 2006
 $ $ $ $

Trade creditors 4,377,641 2,279,086 57,098 148,244
Other creditors 1,853,415 1,036,705 – 65,000
Accruals 10,578,751 1,951,797 96,684 161,558

 16,809,807 5,267,588 153,782 374,802

19. PROVISIONS

Provisions for liabilities

   Group Company
Decommissioning    $ $

At 1 January 2006   1,863,720 –
Additional cost for decommissioning    2,636,280 –

At 31 December 2006   4,500,000 –

The provision has been made by estimating the decommissioning cost at the current prices with the existing technology. Decommissioning costs 
are expected to be incurred between 2016 and 2020.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Hardy fi nances its operations through a mixture of retained earnings, additional equity and bank borrowings if required. Finance requirements 
such as equity, debt and project fi nance are reviewed by the Board when substantial funds are required for acquisition, exploration and 
development of projects.

Hardy’s principal fi nancial instruments are cash and short-term deposits and these instruments are only for the purpose of meeting its 
requirements for operations. Hardy takes exemption under FRS13 for short-term debtors and creditors and is therefore exempted for numerical 
disclosures except foreign currency risk disclosures.

Hardy’s main risks arising from fi nancial instruments are foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. Hardy’s policy of managing the foreign currency 
risk and liquidity risk are as follows:

Foreign currency risk
The Group reports are in US dollars and the majority of its business is conducted in US dollars. All revenues from oil sales are received in $ and all 
costs except a small portion towards expenses at the London offi ce are incurred in $. In case of currency exposure other than $, a portion of the 
cash is kept in deposit in other currency to meet its payments in other currencies. No forward exchange contracts were entered during the year.

Liquidity risk
The Group deposits the surplus cash on short-term deposits ensuring suffi cient liquidity to meet the Group’s expenditure requirements. 
The Company has no outstanding loan obligations at the end of the year.

A) MATURITY OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The fi nancial liabilities and its maturity as at 31 December 2006 are as follows:

   Group Group
   2006 2005
   $ $

In more than two years but not more than fi ve years   – –
In more than fi ve years    4,500,000 1,863,720

The Group does not have any fi xed maturity and interest bearing fi nancial liabilities as at 31 December 2006.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

 B) INTEREST RATE RISK PROFILE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The interest rate risk of the fi nancial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2006 is as follows:

 Fixed rate  Floating rate Financial asset
 fi nancial fi nancial – no interest
 asset asset earned Total
 $ $ $ $

US Dollars 16,239,782 5,662,138 1,108,124 23,010,044
Pounds Sterling – 243,566 44,472 288,038
Indian Rupees 3,178,646 – 784,649 3,963,295
Nigerian Nairas – – 14,222 14,222

 19,418,428 5,905,704 1,951,467 27,275,599

Financial assets include cash, deposits and short-term investments if any and the fl oating interest rates are based on the Bank of England base rate. 

The interest rate risk of the fi nancial assets of the Group as at 31 December 2005 was as follows:

 Fixed rate  Floating rate Financial asset
 fi nancial fi nancial – no interest
 asset asset earned Total
 $ $ $ $

US Dollars 14,413,128 7,216,626 1,603,707 23,233,461
Pounds Sterling 3,529,203 361,883 31,081 3,922,167
Indian Rupees 3,959,270 –  116,112 4,075,382
Nigerian Nairas – – 3,366 3,366

 21,901,601 7,578,509 1,754,266 31,234,376

Financial assets include cash, deposits and short-term investments if any and the fl oating interest rates are based on the Bank of England base rate.

C) CURRENCY EXPOSURES
The currency exposures of the foreign currency monetary assets of the Group year ended 31 December 2006 are as follows:

 Indian Pounds Nigerian
 Rupees Sterling Nairas Total
 $ $ $ $

$ 3,963,295 288,038 14,222 4,265,555

An amount of $99,952 was recognised as foreign exchange gain for the year 2006.

The currency exposures of the foreign currency assets of the Group year ended 31 December 2005 were as follows:

 Indian Pounds Nigerian
 Rupees Sterling Nairas Total
 $ $ $ $

$ 4,075,382 3,922,167 3,366 8,000,915

An amount of $578,990 was recognised as foreign exchange loss for the year 2005.

D) FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Fair values of Hardy’s fi nancial assets and liabilities excluding short-term debtors and creditors are compared as follows:

Primary fi nancial instruments Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
 2006 2006 2005 2005
 $ $ $ $

Provisions for decommissioning (4,500,000) (4,500,000) (1,863,720) (1,863,720)
Fixed asset investments 4,997,036 13,836,910 2,218,122  17,968,252
Cash and short-term deposits 27,275,599 27,275,599 31,234,376 31,234,376

 27,772,635 36,612,509 31,588,778 47,338,908
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21. SHARE CAPITAL

   Number
   $0.01
    ordinary shares
   ’000 $

Authorised ordinary shares  
At 1 January 2006   200,000 2,000,000
At 31 December 2006   200,000 2,000,000

   $0.01 
   ordinary
   shares $

Allotted, issued and fully paid ordinary shares
At 1 January 2006   52,046,667 520,467
Share options converted   1,667 16
Shares issued   5,204,660 52,047

At 31 December 2006   57,252,994 572,530

22. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

Share options have been granted to subscribe for ordinary shares, which are exercisable between 2006 and 2015 at prices ranging from £1.44 to 
£3.38. At 31 December 2006, there were 2,807,099 options outstanding.

The Company has an unapproved share option scheme for the directors and employees of the Group. Options are exercisable at the quoted market 
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant. The options, vest in three equal portions on the fi rst, second and third anniversary of the grant, 
providing the option holder is still employed by the Company. If the options are not exercised within a period of ten years from the date of grant the 
options stand expired.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

  2006 2005
 Number of  Weighted Number of Weighted
 options average price £ options average price £

Outstanding the beginning of the period 2,717,099 1.60 – –
Granted during the period 135,000 3.09 2,717,099 1.60
Forfeited during the period 43,333 1.60 – –
Exercised during the period 1,667 1.44 – –
Outstanding at the end of the period 2,807,099 1.68 2,717,099  1.60
Exercisable at the end of the period 890,699 1.60 – –

The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted outstanding as on 31 December 2006 is $1,824,215. The inputs into the 
binomial model for computation of value of options are as follows:

Share price at date of grant  varies from  £1.44 to £3.38
Option exercise price at date of grant  varies from  £1.44 to £3.38
Expected volatility    8.00%
Expected life  from grant date  6 years 
Risk-free rate    4.15%
Expected dividend    Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s weighted average share price over the period. 
The expected life used has been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations.

The Group has recognised an expense of $595,762 (2005: $267,471) towards equity settled share based payments. Equity shares to be issued are 
revalued at the exchange rate as on 31 December 2006 and the value of shares to be issued as at 31 December 2006 is $940,093 (2005: $252,634).
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23. RESERVES

  Share Shares Profi t and loss
  premium to be issued account
Group  $ $ $

At 1 January 2006 (restated)  28,507,954 252,634 20,667,262
Share options exercised  4,418 – –
Issue of shares  25,542,863 – –
Issue expenses  (1,072,252) – –
Shares to be issued  – 687,459 –
Retained profi t for the year  – – 7,836,923

At 31 December 2006  52,982,983 940,093 28,504,185

  Share Shares Profi t and loss
  premium to be issued account
Company  $ $ $

At 1 January 2006 (restated)  28,507,954 252,634 (2,677,367)
Issue of shares  25,542,863 – 
Share options exercised  4,418 – 
Issue expenses  (1,072,252) – 
Shares to be issued  – 687,459 –
Retained profi t for the year   – 127,048

At 31 December 2006  52,982,983 940,093  (2,550,319)

24. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO OPERATING CASH FLOWS

   2006 2005
   $ $

Operating profi t   8,240,120 8,017,133
Depletion and depreciation   5,322,202 1,645,326
Decommissioning charge   304,899 57,779
(Increase) / decrease in stocks   (2,379,835) 296,340
Decrease / (increase) in debtors   225,800 (986,329)
Increase in creditors   11,542,219 1,761,507
Share based payments charges   687,459 252,634

Net cash infl ow from operating activities   23,942,864 11,044,390

25. NET FUNDS

a) Analysis of net funds
 At 1 January   Non- At 31 December
 2006 Cash fl ows cash fl ows 2005
 $ $ $ $

Cash at bank 31,234,376 (6,743,437) – 24,490,939
Deposit with State Bank of India for site restoration – 2,784,660 – 2,784,660

 31,234,376 (3,958,777) – 27,275,599

Bank guarantees for $1,232,350 were issued to GOI for the block GS-OSN-2000/1 and the guarantee was obtained by placing a fi xed deposit 
of Rs17,402,343 ($393,986) in the bank with the interest rate of 6.75%. This has been included in cash at bank above.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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b) Reconciliation of net cash fl ow to movement in net funds 
   2006 2005
   $ $

Increase in cash in the year   (6,743,437) 22,152,214
Deposit with State Bank of India for site restoration   2,784,660 –
Cash infl ow from drawdown of debt fi nancing   – 1,861,251
Change in net funds resulting from non-cash fl ows   – (56,250)
Net funds as at 1 January   31,234,376 7,277,161
Net funds at 31 December    27,275,599 31,234,376

 

26. OTHER NON-CANCELLABLE FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
 Group Group Company Company 
 2006 2005 2006 2006
 $ $ $ $

Land and buildings, expiring within:
One year 282,856 203,477 188,070 79,204
Two to fi ve years 783,579 141,341 752,280 79,204
Over fi ve years 89,333 – 89,333 –
    
Other operating leases, expiring within:
One year 1,007,136 1,767,330 – –
Two to fi ve years – 1,007,136 – –
Over fi ve years – – – –

Other operating lease commitments represent Hardy’s share of operating lease for fl oating production platform and storage systems.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
To the Members of Hardy Oil and Gas plc (the Company)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on 26 July 2007 at the offi ce of the Company, 
15-19 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB at precisely 10.00am for the following purposes:

Ordinary Business
To consider and if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. to receive and adopt the Company’s annual accounts for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2006 together with the last directors’ report 
and auditors’ report on those accounts;

2. to reappoint Mr Pradip Shah, the director retiring by rotation under Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association;
3. to reappoint Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP as auditors to hold offi ce from the conclusion of the meeting to the conclusion of the next meeting 

at which the accounts are laid before the Company at a remuneration to be determined by the directors.

Special Business
To consider and if thought fi t, to pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as special resolutions:

4.  to authorise the Company generally for the purposes of Section 13 of the Companies Act 1992 to make market purchases (as defi ned in Section 
13(2) of the said Act) of ordinary shares of US$0.01 each in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) provided that:

 (a)  the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 14.99% of the Ordinary Shares in issue as at 26 July 2007;
 (b)  the minimum price which may be paid for such Ordinary Shares is the nominal amount thereof;
 (c)  the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for such Ordinary Shares shall be 5% above the average of the middle market 

quotations taken from the Daily Offi cial List of the London Stock Exchange plc for the fi ve business days before the purchase is made;
 (d)  the authority hereby conferred shall (unless previously renewed or revoked) expire on the earlier of the next annual general meeting of the 

Company and the date which is eighteen months after the date on which this resolution is passed;
 (e)  the Company may make a contract to purchase its own Ordinary Shares under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry of such 

authority which will or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority, and may make a purchase of its own Ordinary 
Shares in pursuance of any such contract;

5. to approve the disapplication of the provisions of Article 5.1 of the Articles of Association of the Company to the issue of ordinary shares up to such 
number as represents fi ve per cent (5%) of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the passing of this resolution, at such prices, 
to such persons, on such terms and at such times as the directors of the Company may from time to time determine in their discretion.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

R V Vanderplank
Company Secretary

Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above-mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his proxy 

to attend and to vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
2. To be effective, forms of proxy must be lodged at the Company’s registered offi ce, 15-19 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB, not later 

than 10.00am on 24 July 2007. Lodgement of a form of proxy will not prevent a member from attending and voting in person. 



Glossary

CORPORATE
Aban  Aban Offshore Limited
AGM Annual General Meeting
AIM Alternative Investment Market
Board the Board of Directors of Hardy Oil and Gas plc
BOCL Bayelsa Oil Company Ltd
Company Hardy Oil and Gas plc
CSR Corporate Social Responsibility
CY Cauvery Basin
DGH Directorate General of Hydrocarbons (India)
GAIL GAIL India Limited
GOI Government of India
Group  Hardy Oil and Gas plc and subsidiaries
GS Gaurashtra Basin
Hardy the Company and/or its subsidiaries as appropriate
HCW Horwath Clark Whitehill LLP
HEPI Hardy Exploration & Production (India) Inc
HOA Hardy Oil (Africa) Limited
HOEC Hindustan Oil Exploration Company Limited
HON Hardy Oil Nigeria Limited
HSE Health, Safety and Environment
IOC  Indian Oil Corporation and/or its subsidiaries as 

appropriate
IPO Initial Public Offering
JOA Joint Operating Agreement
JV joint venture
KG Krishna Godavari
LCIA London Court of International Arbitration
MC Management Committee
Millenium Millenium Oil and Gas Company Limited
NELP II 2nd New Exploration Licensing Policy
NELP III 3rd New Exploration Licensing Policy
NELP V 5th New Exploration Licensing Policy
NELP VI 6th New Exploration Licensing Policy
OC Operating Committee
ONGC  Oil and Natural Gas Corporation Ltd and/or its 

subsidiaries as appropriate
PEL Petroleum Exploration Licence
RIL Reliance Industries Ltd
SPDC   Shell Petroleum Development Company 

of Nigeria Limited
TPL  Tata Petrodyne Limited
UK United Kingdom

TECHNICAL
2D/3D two dimensional/three dimensional
API American Petroleum Institute
bbld  barrels per day
bbls barrels of oil
boepd barrels of oil equivalent per day
bopd barrels of oil per day
bscf billion standard cubic feet of gas
bwpd barrels of water per day
degree API  American Petroleum Institute units as a measure 

of oil specifi c gravity
DST  drill-stem-test
E&P exploration and production
EOR enhanced oil recovery
FDP Field Development Plan
FPU fl oating production unit
FSO fl oating storage and offl oading unit
Km2 square kilometres
LTA lost time accident
LWD logging while drilling
m metres
Mbbls thousand barrels of oil
MDT  Modular Dynamic Tool
MMbbls million barrels of oil
MMBOE  million barrels of oil equivalent (conversion ratio of 8:1)
MMscfd million standard cubic feet of gas per day
OSV offshore vehicle
Phase III   drilling of two wells: one for production and the other 

water injection
PSC production sharing contract
STOIIP stock tank oil initially in place 
TD  total depth

ACCOUNTING
EPS earnings per share
m millions
Rs Indian Rupees
SORP Statement of Recommended Practice
$/US dollars United States dollars unless otherwise indicated
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